

Agrobacterium-Mediated Plant Transformation under *in Planta* Conditions

M. I. Chumakov

Agrobacterial Transformation and Biotechnology Laboratory, Institute of Biochemistry and Physiology of Plants and Microorganisms, Russian Academy of Sciences, Saratov 410049, Russia

Correspondence: chumakov@ibppm.sgu.ru

ABSTRACT

This review describes methods of *Agrobacterium*-mediated T-DNA transfer to plant vegetative and generative cells under *in planta, ex planta* and "floral dip" conditions, including designing and testing methods that require the *in vitro* cultivation of transgenic plant cells and tissues. At present, most methods of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation are based on the coincubation of plant vegetative organs and tissues (leaves, roots, stems, or meristems) with bacterial cell suspensions. Adult plants are then regenerated from the cultivated cells or tissues. This approach gives rise to chimeric transformants and bottlenecks with the regeneration from the cultivated cells or tissues of some monocotyledonous plants. Alternatively, T-DNA integrates into the plant genome as a result of treatment of the male and female plant gametophytes with *Agrobacterium* cells containing activated *vir* genes by using the "floral dip" method and its variations. Since the transformation frequency is not sufficiently high, especially for monocotyledonous plants, factors affecting the transformation frequency and the *Agrobacterium*-mediated T-DNA transfer mechanism have been analyzed.

Keywords: T-DNA, methods, transfer mechanism, virulence proteins Abbreviations: AS, acetosyringone

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	60
T-DNA TRANSFER FROM AGROBACTERIAL TO PLANT CELLS: EXCRETION AND UPTAKE OF T-DNA OR TRANSFER	
DURING CONTACT?	61
AGROBACTERIUM-MEDIATED TRANSFORMATION OF PLANT VEGETATIVE CELLS	
Factors influencing the effectiveness of agrobacterial transformation	62
Temperature	62
Effects of light and cytoskeleton	62
Agrobacterium-mediated "floral dip" method for plant-gametophyte-cell transformation	62
Plant-growth stage	
Inoculation-medium effects	63
Targets for Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation of germ-line cells	63
CONCLUDING REMARKS	63
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	64

INTRODUCTION

Agrobacterium elicits crown-gall tumors on most di- and monocotyledonous plant species. The formation of tumors occurs after transfer of a portion of single-stranded DNA (T-DNA, [transferred DNA]) as part of the Ti-plasmid into the host-cell genome. The discovery of stable integration of the agrobacterial T-DNA into the plant genome was established three decades ago (Chilton *et al.* 1977). Transformation using the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* T-DNA transfer system is still a prevalent method for generating transgenic plants, since any genes placed between the T-DNA borders can be transferred to the host cell. In addition to *A. tumefaciens*-mediated transformation, particle-gun-based methods using greenhouse plants are also available but are not considered in this review.

The T-DNA molecule itself does not encode protein machinery for its transport from the agrobacterial cell into the host cell genome, since these functions are coded by the bacterial *vir* genes located on the Ti-plasmid, the agrobacterial chromosomal locus (*chv*) (for reviews, see Chumakov 2001; Gelvin 2003; Tzfira and Citovsky 2003), and some host-cell partner genes (Gelvin 2003; Hwang and Gelvin 2004).

The *chv* locus is expressed constitutively, whereas the *vir* locus (ten operons, *vir*A–J) is induced by plant metabolites such as the phenolic cell-wall-synthesis precursors acetosyringone (AS) and hydroxyacetosyringone, which begin to be synthesized by plant cells after damage or during growth or regeneration of plant tissue (Stachel *et al.* 1985, 1986a). Wounding allows the bacteria to penetrate directly to specific plant receptors, since removal of a physical obstacle (the cell wall) exposes specific receptor sites to the bacteria by enhancing the contact of virulent bacteria in tissues susceptible to infection (Lippincott *et al.* 1977).

Besides the production of AS, cell division and/or DNA synthesis are also important for plant cell competence (susceptibility to agrobacterial infection) (Binns and Thomashow 1988). In addition, the wound sap has lower pH values and contains sugars and amino acids, which also may induce *vir* genes, though to a lesser extent (Ankenbauer and Nester 1990; Cangelosi *et al.* 1990).

The single-stranded (ss) non-polar linear molecule of T-DNA (the T-strand) is produced with the involvement of the AS-activated *vir* genes (Stachel *et al.* 1986a, 1986b, 1987). The products of the AS-induced genes *vir*D1 and *vir*D2 (endonucleases VirD1 and VirD2) stimulate excision of T-DNA; then the T-strand, piloted by VirD2, is transferred into the plant-cell cytoplasm, where a T-complex is formed after the T-strand gets coated with VirE2 (Citovsky *et al.* 1989; Rossi *et al.* 1996; Tinland 1996). VirD2, responsible for the T-complex piloting from the bacterial cell to the plant-cell nucleus, binds to the 5' end of T-DNA. VirD2 is also responsible for recognition of the nuclear pore and the insertion of T-DNA into the plant chromosome (Koulikova-Nicola *et al.* 1993; Pansegrau and Lanka 1996; Citovsky *et al.* 1994; Tinland 1996).

T-DNA is transferred into the plant cell cytoplasm as a DNA-protein complex (the T-complex) that consists of T-DNA, with the protein VirD2 attached to its 5' end, and the protein VirE2, interacting with ssT-DNA (Citovsky et al. 1989; Volohina et al. 2005; Volohina and Chumakov 2007). The ssT-DNA-VirD2-VirE2 complex is transferred to the plant cell independently, the export of VirE2 is dependent on the presence of the protein VirE1 in the bacterial cell, and, possibly, the VirE2–VirE1 complex is transferred via a VirB-independent channel (Chen et al. 2000). A recent study demonstrated the capacity of VirE2 for interacting with a planar lipid membrane and for forming a channel in it that opens upon application of an electric field of 100 mV and can allow the passage of short oligonucleotides (Dumas et al. 2001; Duckely and Hohn 2003; Chumakov et al. 2004). How the VirE2-mediated transfer of T-DNA across artificial and natural membranes occurs is not known, however.

The precise mechanism of T-DNA transfer from bacterial to plant cells has not been detailed for some steps (T-DNA transfer across the plant-cell wall and membrane and T-complex transportation within the plant-cell cytoplasm), and it is necessary to understand it if we are to improve agrobacterial transformation technologies.

T-DNA TRANSFER FROM AGROBACTERIAL TO PLANT CELLS: EXCRETION AND UPTAKE OF T-DNA OR TRANSFER DURING CONTACT?

The analogy between the T-DNA transport mechanism and the export of proteins considered as a new paradigm is the fourth-type transfer of the protein–DNA complex from donor to recipient cells (Christie 1997). A possible way of DNA penetration into the recipient cell after its release from the donor cell is its transfer across the pores in the recipient membrane (Dumas *et al.* 2001; Duckely and Hohn 2003; Chumakov *et al.* 2004). In this case, conjugation can be considered to be a special case of transformation. However, ssT-DNA transfer via a VirE2-dependent pore across the artificial or natural membrane has not been observed. An alternative hypothesis holds that T-DNA is absorbed by the plant cell during endocytosis through a cytoskeletal mechanism (Chumakov 2001; Chumakov *et al.* 2002).

It is well known that the *Agrobacterium* infection of plants occurs at wound sites of plant cells, but it is unknown which way is used by *A. tumefaciens* for ssT-DNA transfer across the unwounded cell wall into the plant cell. Krens *et al.* (1985) proposed that the forming primary cell wall of tobacco protoplasts is responsible for the attachment of pathogenic agrobacteria. Several years later, an elongation factor (EF-1 α) homologous to vitronectin was found in the plant cell wall (Zhu *et al.* 1994). It is of interest that vitronectin-like protein can serve as a receptor in agrobacterial attachment (Wagner and Matthysse 1992).

Later, it was shown that Agrobacterium attachment as such is not necessary for transformation (Escudero and Hohn 1997). However, Gelvin with coworkers identified more than 70 Arabidopsis T-DNA insertion (including attachment-defective) mutants (rat mutants) that are resistant to Agrobacterium transformation (Nam et al. 1999). Using a two-hybrid yeast system and a processed, but not cyclized, form of VirB2 as a bait protein, Gelvin (Gelvin 2003; Hwang and Gelvin 2004) identified two classes of Arabidopsis proteins that strongly and specifically interact with this major T-pilus constituent. It seems that three BTI proteins localize at the periphery of root cells in transgenic Arabidopsis plants and are involved in the initial interaction of Agrobacterium with plant cells, suggesting that BTI proteins may contact the Agrobacterium T-pilus (Hwang and Gelvin 2004). But no significant difference in the attachment of A. tumefaciens C58 pretreated with acetosyringone at 19°C (T-pilus-favorable) and 30°C (T-pilus-blocking) to wheat-root-hair tips was observed (Kalaptur et al. 2004).

The involvement of VirB proteins in the conjugative contact and pilus (T-pili) formation was first suggested by Engstrom *et al.* (1987). The agrobacterial pili were first visualized and their participation in the conjugative transfer of plasmid pML122 was shown by Fullner *et al.* (1996). The T-pilus is essential for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation; however, it is not clear whether pili take part only in the initial contact and drawing together of the membranes, or they are involved in transfer of genetic information.

A 2-h incubation with AS induces the formation of extracellular proteinaceous structures resembling the T-pili in *A. tumefaciens* strain C58 (with a Ti-plasmid) but not in strain LBA288 (without it). No differences were observed in the wheat root hair attachment of *A. tumefaciens* Ti-plasmid-harboring strain and strain LBA288 lacking the Ti plasmid after AS treatments (Kalaptur *et al.* 2004).

It is believed that agrobacteria can carry adhesive molecules or a cell-wall-degrading enzyme at the contact site, which provides for polar attachment. The inducible virulence protein VirB1 can be proposed as such an enzyme; it has β -glycosidase activity, it is anchored to the outer membrane, and its C-terminal region (VirB1*) can be exposed outside (Baron *et al.* 1997). Agrobacteria can form aggregates or short pilus-like structures composed of VirB1* protein at one of the cellular poles (Chumakov and Kurbanova 1998). It is not improbable that the polar attachment allows agrobacteria to degrade the plant cell wall.

Silverman (1997) proposed that DNA is transferred by its excretion and propilin transport inside the pilus channel to the pilus end. Also intriguing is the question whether the membrane fusion after the contact and the information transfer is carried out by means of the fusion pore or whether T-DNA is transferred through the bacterial-membrane pore formed by the VirE2 proteins, as suggested by Dumas *et al.* (2001). VirE2 also interacts in yeast with several of the *Arabidopsis* importin-proteins, suggesting that VirD2 and VirE2 may have a common mechanism of nuclear import (Gelvin 2003).

AGROBACTERIUM-MEDIATED TRANSFORMATION OF PLANT VEGETATIVE CELLS

Most methods of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation are based on the coincubation of plant vegetative organs and tissues (seeds, leaves, roots, stems, or meristems) with bacterial-cell suspensions (Feldmann and Marks 1987; Feldmann 1992; Katavic *et al.* 1994; Bent and Clough 1998; Clough and Bent 1998; de la Riva *et al.* 1998; Chung *et al.* 2000; Kojima *et al.* 2006).

However, each of them has certain disadvantages, which led to research into the development of novel alternative systems such as infiltration, electroporation of cells and tissues, electrophoresis of embryos, microinjection, pollentube pathway, silicon carbide- and liposome-mediated, floral dip transformation methods (Rakoczy-Trojanowska 2002; Bent 2006). The low efficiency of transformation is considered to be the main reason for the limited popularity of the alternative transformation methods, other than infiltration and silicon carbide-mediated transformation, which seem the most promising ones (Rakoczy-Trojanowska 2002).

Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of germinating seeds of *Arabidopsis thaliana* as a non-tissue culturing approach was first demonstrated about 20 years ago (Feldmann and Marks 1987). It is currently used widely as a method of *Agrobacterium* T-DNA-mediated insertion mutagenesis to study the structural and functional organization of the plant genome. Production of insertion mutants by *in planta* transformation seems especially promising for monocotyledonous plants, since there are the difficulties of plant regeneration from suspension and callus cultures.

Kojima *et al.* (2006) developed a general *in planta* transformation method in which *A. tumefaciens* is inoculated onto the meristems of various parts of soaked seeds, seedlings, or young plants (depending on the plant), and the inoculated plants are grown to maturation in pots under nonsterile conditions. The transformation efficiency of all buckwheat, mulberry, kenaf, and rice plants transformed by this method was extremely high, compared with those of the general *in vitro* transformation methods reported previously (Kojima *et al.* 2006) The authors assumed that *in planta* transformation probably mimicked *A. tumefaciens* infection of plants in nature. This might account for the high transformation efficiency of this method (Kojima *et al.* 2006).

In 1993, Bechtold *et al.* (1993) reported on an original method for transformation of *Arabidopsis* by *Agrobacte-rium* vacuum infiltration. The primary reasons for the popularity of this method have been its simplicity and reliability. With vacuum infiltration and other *in planta* transformation methods, most transformed progeny are genetically uniform (nonchimeric), and the somaclonal variation associated with tissue culture and regeneration is minimized (Tague and Mantis 2006). The elimination of tissue culture and regeneration greatly reduces hands-on time, and success can be achieved by nonexperts (Bechtold *et al.* 1993; Bent and Clough 1998).

A method of transgenic-plant generation through the coincubation of immature plant embryos with *Agrobacte-rium* cells followed by multiple callus passages was suggested (Zhao *et al.* 2000). The level of stable plant transformation achieved by this approach, calculated relative to the inoculated calli, was 10%. The disadvantages of the method are the high labor expenditure and the long duration of the process of transgenic-plant production. Furthermore, the use of *in vitro* cultivation systems can lead to the formation of somaclonal plant variants.

It seems that the tested plant-generative-cell-transformation approach is easy and cheap, compared to the others, which require the use of expensive cultural media for the production of callus cultures and for the subsequent plant regeneration. The proposed approach makes it possible to generate transgenic plants without *in vitro* cultivation. Consequently, there is no danger of appearance of somaclonal variation. Furthermore, the application of this approach is not restricted to genotypes capable of forming wellgrowing embryogenic callus. The method of generative-cell transformation seems most promising for monocotyledonous plants, since there are the difficulties of plant regeneration from suspension and callus cultures.

Factors influencing the effectiveness of agrobacterial transformation

Temperature

Temperature is a key factor in agrobacterial-mediated plant transformation (Tempe *et al.* 1977). To date, several transformation stages sensitive to high temperature have been described for Vir proteins (Fullner and Nester 1996; Chumakov *et al.* 2002). The temperature range of 19 to 22°C is

optimal for the expression of vir genes in Agrobacterium (Fullner and Nester 1996). In particular, 28°C is critical for the excretion and assemblage of vir-dependent extracellular agrobacterial T-pili, essential for successful T-DNA transfer (Fullner et al. 1998). Transfer of T-DNA into tobacco plantlets under laboratory conditions was completely suppressed at 31°C (Chumakov et al. 2002). Temperature (22-25°C) during silk treatment with an agrobacterial suspension was less favorable for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation compared to 18-20°Č (Chumakov et al. 2006). These findings seem to conflict with the data on the temperature effects on T-DNA transfer machinery inside the agrobacterial cells. Since activation of the vir genes in Agrobacterium and subsequent incubation of the bacterial cells under laboratory conditions were performed at 27°C and were followed by coincubation with the plant at 18-25°C, a possible explanation could be the low temperature-sensitivity of the transformation stages taking place in the plant-host cells. This sug-gestion is supported by the confirmed transfer and integration of T-DNA into the animal cell nuclei after coincubation of Agrobacterium and HeLa cells at 37°C (Kunik et al. 2001).

Cooling for a short period (for 4 h under light conditions) held back the transformation by *A. tumefaciens* with activated *vir* genes of undamaged tobacco seedlings, since low-temperature pretreatment probably affects the state of the cytoskeleton (Chumakov *et al.* 2002). In addition to the temperature factor, the frequency of T-DNA transfer and integration can be influenced by the conditions for virulencegene induction (AS concentration and induction time).

Effects of light and cytoskeleton

Illumination (light) as a factor limiting Agrobacteriummediated transformation of uninjured tobacco plantlets was first demonstrated by Chumakov et al. (2002) and was confirmed by Zambre et al. (2003). The number of transformed (GUS-positive) tobacco plantlets dropped two-fold after incubation in darkness for 1 h; 90% of the leaf stomata were closed. The authors concluded that transformation is related to the state of plant stomata and plasmodesmata and to light- and temperature-dependent cytoskeleton effects (Chumakov et al. 2002). A positive effect of light (in a 16 h light/ 8 h dark photoperiod) during cocultivation of A. tumefaciens with callus from two genotypes of the crop plant Phaseolus acutifolius (tepary bean) and also during cocultivation of root segments was observed by Zambre et al. (2003). The observed positive effect of light has obvious implications for the development and improvement of transient and stable transformation protocols, specifically those involving cocultivated in the dark (Zambre et al. 2003).

However, dark incubation can also change the state of the plant cytoskeleton (Gamalei 1996). When two-week-old tobacco seedlings were preincubated with 0.1 mM colchicine (which disassembles actin microfibrils and affects the cytoskeleton in tobacco protoplasts; Smith and Raikhel 1998) 30 min before the incubation with agrobacteria, 50% of the stomata were closed, and the number of transformed cells dropped two- to three-fold (Chumakov *et al.* 2002).

Factors that produce significant differences (0.3-3.3%) in T-DNA delivery to immature embryos from a range of plant (wheat) varieties and in regeneration include the embryo size, the duration of preculturing, inoculation and cocultivation, and the presence of AS and a surfactant in the media (Wu *et al.* 2003).

Agrobacterium-mediated "floral dip" method for plant-gametophyte-cell transformation

For the transformation of germ cells, a simple method was suggested that consists in dipping male and female inflorescences of *Arabidopsis* into a suspension of *Agrobacterium* cells with activated virulence genes (Clough and Bent 1998; Bent 2006). Earlier versions of this method and related methods have been known as "*Agrobacterium* vacuum infiltration" or "in planta transformation" (Feldmann 1992; Bechtold et al. 1993; Chang et al. 1994; Katavic et al. 1994). With respect to the present method, these names are either inaccurate or ambiguous in that they have been used previously to describe substantially different methods. To provide a distinct name that is descriptive of the process, Clough and Bent (1998) proposed the term 'floral dip' for methods in which plants are transformed by direct application of Agrobacterium to floral tissues, without the use of vacuum or other pressurizing devices. Veit et al. (2006) effectively used the floral dip method to introduce phosphinotricin-resistant genes into 6-day-old Chenopodium rubrum seedlings.

The level of transformation in the case of Clough and Bent (1998) was 4% in the first generation. The efficiency of the floral dip approach was similar to that of the *Agrobacterium* suspension spray on the flowers of *Arabidopsis* (Chung *et al.* 2000). The floral-spray method opens up the possibility of *in planta* transformation of species that are too large to be used in dipping or vacuum infiltration.

The mechanism bringing T-DNA into germ cells is unknown. A possible way of T-DNA delivery into the nuclei of maternal embryo-sac cells of maize might be the delivery of *Agrobacterium* into the egg cell with a growing pollen tube (Chumakov *et al.* 2006).

Plant-growth stage

Of the many variables present in the germ-line transformation protocol, the developmental stage of *A. thaliana* at the time of inoculation with *Agrobacterium* is one of the most important. The optimal growth stage for *Agrobacterium*mediated transformation of *A. thaliana* by the floral dip procedure is when plants contain numerous unopened floral buds (Clough and Bent 1998).

Inoculation-medium effects

Clough and Bent (1998) found that the absence of Murashige and Skoog medium salts and pH adjustment had no effect on *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation rates, but sucrose and surfactant in the inoculation medium affected transformation by the vacuum infiltration method.

When Liu *et al.* (1992) attempted to preinduce the *vir* genes by growing *Agrobacterium* for 20 h in a standard *vir*-inducing liquid medium instead of a rich liquid medium, the rate of transformation did not change significantly. Growth on a solid *vir*-inducing CIB medium (Fullner *et al.* 1994) at 19°C led to a four-fold decrease in the transformation rate.

When *Agrobacterium* was grown to a stationary phase and then resuspended at various inoculum concentrations ranging from OD_{600} 0.15 to 1.75, there was little difference in the transformation rate. It also was found that cells grown to very late stationary phase (prepared from cultures grown for 84 h) and diluted to OD_{600} 0.8 transformed just as efficiently as did the younger cultures (I. Volokhina, pers. comm.).

The efficiency of the floral dip method can be increased by nearly three-fold by using 0.05% (v/v) Silwet L-77 surfactants. However, in general, the efficiency of transgenicplant generation remains low. For instance, in the first generation of radish it constituted 0.5 to 1.4% (Curtis and Nam 2001). With this approach, it is possible to obtain up to 2.7% of Southern-positive transformants in wheat (Pukhalskiy *et al.* 1996) and 6.7% PCR-positive transformants in corn (Chumakov *et al.* 2006).

Targets for *Agrobacterium*-mediated plant transformation of germ-line cells

When *Arabidopsis* flowers are dipped into an *Agrobacterium* suspension, the ova and tissues of the female gametophyte become a target for T-DNA because treatment of the male plants (anthers) does not produce transgenic plants (Desfeux *et al.* 2000). A critical step is the flower treatment time. A similar approach to foreign-gene transfer through the flowering spikes by using agrobacterial cells with acetosyringone-activated *vir* genes has been undertaken earlier in wheat (Pukhalskiy *et al.* 1996), but the frequencies obtained from those experiments were defined as 'low'.

Integration of T-DNA carrying the *npt*II gene into the maize genome as a result of treatment of pistil filaments with *Agrobacterium* cells containing activated *vir* genes *ex planta* was demonstrated by Chumakov *et al.* (2006). A cell suspension of *A. tumefaciens* carrying activated *vir* genes was applied onto the previously isolated pistil filaments, which were afterwards pollinated with the pollen of the same cultivar. With this approach, the output of transgenic plants can be as high as 60% of the number of kanamycin-resistant seedlings grown from the transformed seeds, which constitutes up to 7% of the total number of seeds.

The high frequency of genetic transformation in these investigations may have resulted from a successful combination of different factors. First, one should note that the need for a time interval between pollination and inoculation of an agrobacterial cell suspension is very important. In experiments in which inoculation of an agrobacterial suspension immediately followed pollination, the seed in an ear was completely absent, perhaps as a result of inhibition of the pollen-tube growth factors (Chumakov et al., unpublished data). At the same time, application of the agrobac-terial suspension 4–7 hours after pollination, i.e., when the pollen tube reached the female gametophyte, allowed Mól et al. (2004) to obtain kernels with transgenic embryos. Agrobacterium can either independently, with the use of the virulence proteins VirE2 and VirD2, secure T-DNA transfer though the membrane and cytoplasm into the nucleus, after the contact with the female gametophyte cells, or it can be absorbed during the entrance of the sperm cell nuclei into the egg cells.

Analysis of the first-generation *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants showed that T-DNA inserts were present in one of the alleles. The insert homozygous plants were very rare or absent. This finding suggests that the integration takes place in the developing embryo. Moreover, the embryo-sac cells are transformed independently (Bechtold *et al.* 2003).

Taking into account this fact, we speculate that genetic transformation in this experimental system proceeds by the pollen-tube pathway, with the agrobacterial cells either transforming the pollen tube and then the zygote or hitting directly the zygote following the trace of the pollen tube (Chumakov *et al.* 2006). It is known that the pollen tube moves towards the micropyle (the germ pore). This movement is guided by an attractor protein produced by the micropyle cells (Marton *et al.* 2005).

The productive transformation events occur on female floral structures and do not occur during the early stages of anther or pollen/microspore development prior to pollen release (Desfeux *et al.* 2000). It is possible that multiple developmental stages serve as productive targets, ranging from the ovule primordia that will give rise to the megasporophyte, through any stage of megagametophyte development, to the recently fertilized embryo.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Most of the methods of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation are based on coincubation of plant vegetative organs and tissues (leaves, roots, or stems) and the bacterial-cell suspension. The adult plants are then regenerated from the cultivated cells or tissues. This approach can result in the production of chimeric transformants or has certain disadvantages, which led to research into the development of novel alternative systems such as infiltration, electroporation of cells and tissues, electrophoresis of embryos, microinjection, and the pollen-tube-pathway and floral-dip-transformation methods. With "floral dip" and other *in planta* transformation methods, most transformed progeny are genetically uniform (nonchimeric), and the somaclonal variation associated with tissue culture and regeneration is minimized. The elimination of tissue culture and regeneration greatly reduces hands-on time, and success can be achieved even by nonexperts.

Production of insertion mutants by "floral dip" and *in planta* transformation seems especially promising for monocotyledonous plants, since there are the difficulties of plant regeneration from suspension and callus cultures. But the efficiency of transformation by these transformation methods is still low, and it is necessary to understand unknown aspects of the mechanism of T-DNA transfer if we are to improve agrobacterial transformation technologies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grant № 02.512.11.2072 from the Russian Federal Agency for Science and Innovation (federal program "Research and Development of Advanced Science Technologies: Priority Direction for 2007-2012," section "Bioengineering Technologies").

REFERENCES

- Ankenbauer RG, Nester EW (1990) Sugar-mediated induction of Agrobacterium tumefaciens vilulence genes: structural specificity and activities of monosaccharides. Journal of Bacteriology 172, 6442-6446
- Baron C, Llosa M, Zhou S, Zambryski P (1997) VirB1, a component of the T-complex transfer machinery of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* is processed to a C-terminal secreted product, VirB1. *Journal of Bacteriology* **179**, 1203-1210
- Bechtold N, Ellis J, Pelletier G (1993) In planta Agrobacterium mediated gene transfer by infiltration of adult Arabidopsis thaliana plants. C.R. Academy of Sciences Paris, Life Science 316, 1194-1199
- Bechtold N, Jolivet S, Voisin R, Pelletier G (2003) The endosperm and the embryo of *Arabidopsis thaliana* are independently transformed through infiltration by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Transgenic Research* **12**, 509-517
- Bent AF, Clough SJ (1998) Agrobacterium germ-line transformation: transformation of Arabidopsis without tissue culture. In: Gelvin SB (Ed) Plant Molecular Biology Manual, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands, B7, pp 1-14
- Bent A (2006) Arabidopsis thaliana floral dip transformation method. Methods in Molecular Biology 343, 87-103
- Binns AN, Thomashow MF (1988) Cell biology of Agrobacterium infection and transformation of plants. Annual Review of Microbiology 42, 575-606
- Cangelosi GA, Ancenbauer RG, Nester EW (1990) Sugar induces the Agrobacterium virulence genes through a periplasmic binding protein and a transmembrane signal protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 87, 6708-6712
- Chang SS, Park SK, Kim BC, Kang BJ, Kim DU, Nam HG (1994) Stable genetic transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* by *Agrobacterium* inoculation *in planta*. *Plant Journal* **5**, 551-558
- Chen L, Li C, Nester E (2000) Transferred DNA (T-DNA)-associated proteins of Agrobacterium tumefaciens are exported independently of virB. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 97, 7545-7550
- Chilton M-D, Drummond MH, Merlo DJ, Sciaky D, Montoya AL, Gordon MP, Nester EW (1977) Stable incorporation of plasmid DNA into higher plant cells: the molecular basis of crown gall tumorogenesis. *Cell* 11, 263-271
- Chumakov MI, Kurbanova IV (1998) Localization of the protein VirB1 involved in contact formation during conjugation among *Agrobacterium* cells. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **168**, 297-301
- Chumakov MI (2000) Transfer of genetic information from agrobacterial to bacterial and plant cells: membrane and supramembrane structures involving in the transfer (an overview). *Membrane Cell Biology* 13, 309-331
- Chumakov MI (2001) T-DNA transfer from agrobacterial to plant cell through the wall and membranes. *Molecular Genetics, Microbiology and Virology* 3, 26-31
- Chumakov MI, Kurbanova IV, Solovova GK (2002) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of undamaged plants. Fiziologiya Rastenii 49, 898-903
- Chumakov MI, Burmatov AV, Bogdanov VI, Volokhina IV (2004) Experimental and computer evaluation of the ability ssT-DNA-binding VirE2 protein to interact with lipid membranes In: Kolchanov VA, Hofestaedt R (Eds) *Bioinformatics of Genome Regulation and Structure*, IC&G, Novosibirsk, Russia, 1, pp 252-254
- Chumakov MI, Rozhok NA, Velikov VA, Tyrnov VS, Volokhina IV (2006) Agrobacterium-mediated in planta transformation of maize via pistil filaments. Russian Journal of Genetics 42, 893-897
- Chung M-H, Chen M-K, Pan S-M (2000) Floral spray transformation can efficiently generate Arabidopsis. Transgenic Research 9, 471-486
- Christie PJ (1997) Agrobacterium tumefaciens T-complex transport apparatus:

a paradigm for a new family of multifunctional transporters in eubacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology* **179**, 3085-3094

- Citovsky VC, Wong ML, Zambryski P (1989) Cooperative interaction of *Agrobacterium* VirE2 protein with single-stranded DNA: implications for the T-DNA transfer process. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **86**, 1193-1197
- Citovsky V, Warnick D, Zambryski P (1994) Nuclear import of Agrobacterium VirD2 and VirE2 proteins in maize and tobacco. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 91, 3210-3214
- Clough SJ, Bent AF (1998) Floral dip: a simplified method for Agrobacteriummediated transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Journal 16, 735-743
- Curtis IS, Nam HG (2001) Transgenic radish (Raphanus sativus L. longipinnatus Bailey) by floral-dip method-plant development and surfactant are important in optimizing transformation efficiency. Transgenic Research 10, 363-371
- de la Riva GA, Gonzalez-Cabrera J, Vazquez-Padron R, Ayra-Pardo C (1998) Agrobacterium tumefaciens: a natural tool for plant transformation. Electronic Journal of Biotechnology 1, 1-16
- Desfeux C, Clough SJ, Bent AF (2000) Female reproductive tissues are the primary target of Agrobacterium-mediated transformation by the Arabidopsis floral-dip methods. Plant Physiology 123, 895-904
- Dumas F, Duckely M, Pelczar P, van Gelder P, Hohn B (2001) An Agrobacterium VirE2 channel for transferred-DNA transport into plant cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 98, 485-490
- Duckely M, Hohn B (2003) The VirE2 protein of Agrobacterium tumefaciens: the Yin and Yong of T-DNA transfer. FEMS Microbiology Letters 223, 1-6
- Engstrom P, Zambryski P, van Montagu M, Stachel S (1987) Characterization of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* virulence proteins induced by the plant factor acetosyringone. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **197**, 635-645
- Escudero J, Hohn B (1997) Transfer and integration of T-DNA without cell injury in the host plant. *The Plant Cell* 9, 2135-2142
- Feldmann KA, Marks MD (1987) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of germinating seeds of Arabidopsis thaliana: a non-tissue culture approach. Molecular and General Genetics 208, 1-9
- Feldmann KA (1992) T-DNA insertion mutagenesis in Arabidopsis: seed infection/transformation. In: Koncz C, Chua N-H, Schell J (Eds) Methods in Arabidopsis Research, World Scientific, Singapore, pp 274-289
- Fullner KJ, Stephens KM, Nester EW (1994) An essential virulence protein of Agrobacterim tumefaciens, VirB4, requires an intact mononucleotide binding domain to function in transfer of T-DNA. Molecular and General Genetics 245, 704-715
- Fullner KJ, Nester EW (1996) Temperature affects the T-DNA transfer machinery of Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Journal of Bacteriology 178, 1498-1504
- Fullner KJ, Lara JC, Nester EW (1996) Pilus assembly by Agrobacterium T-DNA transfer genes. Science 273, 1007-1009
- Gamalei YV (1996) Assimilate export under natural and experimental conditions. *Fiziologiya Rastenii* 43, 115-137
- Gelvin SB (2003) Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation: the biology behind the "gene-jockeying" tool. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 67, 16-37
- Hwang HH, Gelvin SB (2004) Plant proteins that interact with VirB2, the Agrobacterium tumefaciens pilin protein, mediate plant transformation. Plant Cell 16, 3148-3167
- Kalaptur OV, Solovova GK, Panasenko VI, Chumakov MI (2004) Colonization of wheat root hairs and roots by agrobacteria. *Biology Bulletin* 31, 582-590
- Katavic V, Haughn GW, Reed D, Martin M, Kunst L (1994) In planta transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana. Molecular and General Genetics 245, 363-370
- Kojima M, Suparthana P, Teixeira da Silva JA, Nogawa M (2006) Development of *in planta* transformation methods using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1st Edn, Vol II), Global Science Books, London, pp 41-48
- Koulikova-Nicola Z, Raineri D, Stephens K, Ramos C, Tinland B, Nester EW, Hohn B (1993) Genetic analysis of the virD operon of Agrobacterium tumefaciens: a search for functions involved in transport of T-DNA into the plant cell nucleus and in T-DNA integration. Journal of Bacteriology 175, 723-731
- Krens FA, Molendijk L, Wullems GJ, Schilperoort RA (1985) The role of bacterial attachment in the transformation of cell-wall-regenerating tobacco protoplasts by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Planta 166, 300-306
- Kunik T, Tzfira T, Kapulnik Y, Gafni Y, Dingwall C, Citovsky V (2001) Genetic transformation of HeLa cells by Agrobacterium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 98, 1871-1876
- Lippincott BB, Whatley MH, Lippincott JA (1977) Tumor induction by Agrobacterium involves attachment of the bacterium to a site on the host plant cell wall. Plant Physiology 59, 388-390
- Liu C-N, Li X-Q, Gelvin SB (1992) Multiple copies of virG enhance the transient transformation of celery, carrot and rice tissues by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Plant Molecular Biology 20, 1071-1087

Marton ML, Cordts S, Broadhvest J, Dresselhaus T (2005) Micropylar pol-

len tube guidance by egg apparatus 1 of maize. Science 307, 573-576

- Mól R, Filek M, Machackova I, Matthys-Rochon E (2004) Ethylene synthesis and auxin augmentation in pistil tissues are important for egg cell differentiation after pollination in maize. *Plant Cell Physiology* **45**, 1396-1405
- Nam J, Mysore KS, Zheng C, Knue MK, Matthysse AG, Gelvin SB (1999) Identification of T-DNA tagged *Arabidopsis* mutants that are resistant to transformation by *Agrobacterium*. *Molecular and General Genetics* **261**, 429-438
- Pansegrau W, Lanka E (1996) Enzymology of DNA transfer by conjugation mechanisms. Progress in Nuclear Acid Research Molecular Biology 54, 197-251
- Pukhalskiy VA, Smirnov SP, Korostyleva TV, Bilinskaya EN, Eliseeva AA (1996) Genetic transformation of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Russian Journal of Genetics 32, 1390-1394
- Rakoczy-Trojanowska M (2002) Alternative methods of plant transformation a short review. Cell and Molecular Biology Letters 7, 849-858
- Rossi L, Hohn B, Tinland B (1996) Integration of complete transferred DNA units is dependent on the activity of virulence E2 protein of Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93, 126-130
- Silverman PM (1997) Towards a structural biology of bacterial conjugation. Molecular Microbiology 23, 423-429
- Smith HMS, Raikhel NV (1998) Nuclear localization signal receptor importin associates with the cytoskeleton. *Plant Cell* 10, 1791-1799
- Stachel SE, Messens E, van Montagu M, Zambryski P (1985) Identification of the signal molecules produced by wounded plant cells that activate T-DNA transfer in Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Nature 318, 624-629
- Stachel SE, Timmerman B, Zambryski PC (1986a) Generation of singlestranded T-DNA molecules during the initial stages of T-DNA transfer from *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* to plant cells. *Nature* 322, 706-711
- Stachel SE, Nester EW, Zambryski PC (1986b) A plant cell factor induces Agrobacterium tumefaciens vir gene expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 83, 379-383
- Stachel SE, Timmerman B, Zambryski PC (1987) Activation of Agrobacterium tumefaciens vir gene expression generates multiple single-stranded Tstrand molecules from the pTiA6 T-region: requirement for 5' virD product.

The EMBO Journal 6, 857-863

- Tague BW, Mantis J (2006) In planta Agrobacterium-mediated transformation by vacuum infiltration. Methods in Molecular Biology **323**, 215-223
- Tempe J, Petit A, Holsters M, Montagu M, Shell J (1977) Termosensivity step associated with transfer of the Ti plasmid during conjugation possible relation to transformation in crown gall. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences USA 711, 2848-2849
- Tinland B (1996) The integration of T-DNA into plant genomes. *Trends in Plant Science* 1, 178-184
- Tzfira T, Citovsky V (2003) The Agrobacterium-plant cell interaction. Taking biology lessons from a bug. Plant Physiology 133, 943-947
- Veit J, Wagner E, Albrechtová (2006) Floral dip transformation of Chenopodium rubrum. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vol II), Global Science Books, London, pp 49-53
- Volokhina IV, Sazonova IA, Velikov VA, Chumakov MI (2005) Isolation, purification, and identification of the virulence protein VirE2 from Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Microbiological Research 160, 67-73
- Volokhina IV, Chumakov MI (2007) Studying of VirE2-ssT-DNA complex formation by scanning probe and gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Microscopy* and Microanalysis 13, 51-54
- Wagner V, Matthysse AG (1992) Involvement of a vitronectin-like protein in attachment of Agrobacterium tumefaciens to carrot suspension culture cells. Journal of Bacteriology 174, 5999-6003
- Wu H, Sparks C, Amoah B, Jones HD (2003) Factors influencing successful Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of wheat. Plant Cell Reports 21, 659-668
- Zambre M, Terryn N, de Clercq J, de Buck S, Dillen W, van Montagu M, van der Straeten D, Angenon G (2003) Light strongly promotes gene transfer from Agrobacterium tumefaciens to plant cells. Planta 216, 580-586
- Zhao Z-Y, Cai T, Tagliani L, Miller M, Wang N, Pang H, Rudert M, Schroeder S, Hondred D, Seltzer J, Pierce D (2000) Agrobacterium-mediated Sorghum transformation. Plant Molecular Biology 44, 789-798
- **Zhu J-K, Damsz B, Kononowicz AK, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM** (1994) A higher plant extracellular vitronectin-like adhesion protein is related to the translational elongation factor-1α. *The Plant Cell* **6**, 393-394